
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE DISTRICT OF PUERTO RICO 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
ANÍBAL ACEVEDO VILÁ, et al., 
 
  Defendants. 

 

 

CRIMINAL NO. 08-00036 (PJB) 

 
 

DEFENDANT LUISA INCLAN BIRD’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
COUNTS 10-21 (WIRE FRAUD)1 AND INCORPORATED MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 
Defendant, Luisa Inclan Bird, through undersigned counsel, hereby moves this Court to 

Dismiss Counts 10 through 21, inclusive, of the Superseding Indictment (the “Indictment”) in 

this case for failure to state a prosecutable wire fraud crime.  In particular, Defendant avers that 

the wire fraud counts on their face fail to meet the statutory requirement that the use of wires be 

“for the purpose of executing the alleged scheme or artifice to defraud”.  As grounds, Defendant 

states as follows: 

Materiality is an element of a mail or wire fraud offense.  See Neder v. United States, 527 

U.S. 1, 25 (1999).  See United States v. Rogers, 118 F.3d 466, 472 (6th Cir. 1997).  Usually 

materiality is considered in the context of the alleged misrepresentations and omissions that 

make up the scheme or artifice to defraud.  Neder, 527 U.S. at 16.  And while it is well-

established that the use of mails or wires charged as a violation of 18 U.S.C § 1341 or 18 U.S.C 

§ 1343 need not by itself be an illegal act, see e.g. United States v. Hasson, 333 F.3d 1264 (11th 

Cir. 2003), nevertheless, the use of mail or wire cannot be an incidental or de minimis act, but 

                                                 
1 Co-Defendants Ramon Velasco Escardille and Ricardo Colon Padilla have joined in the instant 
motion. 
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rather must be in furtherance of and for the purpose of executing the scheme and artifice to 

defraud.  In other words, we submit in this case, the use of wires that constitutes the 18 U.S.C. § 

1343 offense must itself be material to the alleged scheme.  United States v. Fermin Castillo, 829 

F.2d 1194, 1199 (1st cir. 1987) (the communications must be more than peripheral and must have 

touched one or more of the core transactions of the plot).   

In this case, Counts 10 through 21 of the Indictment charge Ms. Luisa Inclan Bird and 

five Co-Defendants with alleged violations of 18 U.S.C  § 1343.  The Indictment describes the 

object of the scheme and artifice to defraud as “to obtain public campaign financing from the 

Puerto Rico Treasury Department” by “circumventing certain legal requirements required by the 

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico’s Public Campaign Financing laws.”  Indictment at pp. 38-39.  

The Indictment sets out several “manner and means” by which the alleged scheme operated, 

including claims that individuals paid for campaign debts in a manner that avoided disclosure of 

those “payments in reports required to be filed with the State Electoral Commission and the 

Puerto Rico Treasury Department.”  Indictment at 39 (emphasis added). 

The use of wires for purported execution of the scheme, however, relates to only two Co-

Defendants, Miguel Nazario Franco and Jose Gonzalez Freyre.  Ms. Luisa Inclan Bird is accused 

of somehow acting as an aider and abettor.  Counts 10-20 identify electronic e-mail messages 

between Co-Defendant Nazario and Lopito (“LIH”) agency people.  It is noteworthy to point out 

that not one of these e-mails includes, mentions, nor suggests any connection with Ms. Luisa 

Inclan Bird.  The e-mails apparently relate to campaign debts and payments.  Count 21 describes 

an electronic e-mail message from Co-Defendant Gonzalez Freyre to his employees at Pan 

American Grain, relating to invoices.  This e-mail likewise does not involve, mention, nor 

suggest any connection to Ms. Luisa Inclan Bird.  The Indictment is completely silent as to what 
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relation , if any, Defendant Inclan Bird has with the use of wires as charged. The inference left 

is: absolutely nothing. 

 
It is well established the use of the mails and wires must be closely related and important 

to the successful execution of a fraud charged as an 18 U.S.C. § 1343 violation.  See e.g., United 

States v. Green, 786 F. 2d 247, 250 (7th Cir. 1986).  See generally United States v. Morales-

Rodriguez, 467 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2006) (sustaining mailings incident to essential aspect of 

scheme); United States v. Castile, 795 F.2d 1273 (6th Cir. 1986); (scheme’s completion or 

prevention of its detection must depend in some way on charged mailing); United States v. 

Pietri-Giraldi, 864 F.2d 222 (1st Cir. 1982) (bank telexes confirming existence of sham 

certificates of deposit not sufficiently connected to fraud); United States v. Blecker, 657 F.2d 

629 (4th Cir. 1981) (charged mailing must be important to scheme); United States v. Edwards, 

458 F.2d 875 (5th Cir. 1972) (not enough if mailing merely collateral to scheme or incidental to 

it).  In this case, the indictment on its face is silent as to how the e-mails described are closely 

related or otherwise important to the alleged scheme.  In fact, the e-mails appear incidental and 

de minimis to the conduct otherwise described in the Indictment. 

It is apparent that the gravamen of the instant prosecution in Counts 10-21 is non-

disclosure of information in reports required to be filed under Puerto Rico law.  The charged e-

mails do not relate to Ms. Luisa Inclan Bird at all and have no direct relation to any reports 

submitted to the State Electoral Commission or the Puerto Rico Treasury Department.   
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Accordingly, Counts 10-21 should be dismissed.2

 
       

 
2 In addition, in considering the legal limits to a wire fraud prosecution, a consideration 

of  the “legally compelled mailing doctrine” is instructive.  The doctrine was first announced in 
1960 in Parr v. United States, 363 U.S. 370 (1960).  Nine individuals and two state banking 
corporations were indicted and convicted of mail fraud after scheming to defraud a school 
district, the State of Texas, and taxpayers of ad valorem tax collections and diverting tax money 
to private gain.  The mailings that substantiated the mail fraud charges were letters, tax 
statements, checks and receipts related to the assessment and collection of the taxes.  These 
mailed notices, as it turned out, were instrumental to the diversion of tax monies, although non-
fraudulent and legal in themselves. The Supreme Court set aside the convictions in the case, 
holding that mailings made or caused to be made under the imperative command of duty 
imposed by state law are not criminal under the federal mail fraud statute.  Id. at 391.  The Court 
reasoned that the law violation in the case was actually a state law violation that was being boot-
strapped into a federal violation because of use of the federal postal system.  Id. at 385.  Because 
the mailings were innocent in themselves and required under the state law as part of the state 
taxing process, the Court concluded these mailings could not qualify as mailings for the purpose 
of executing a fraudulent scheme under 18-1341. 

In United States v. Schmuck, 489 U.S. 705 (1989), a divided Supreme Court in a 5-4 
decision re-affirmed the compelled mailing doctrine but upheld the conviction of a used car 
distributor who, as part of a scheme to transfer title of cars whose odometers had been rolled 
back, mailed title transfer forms to the state department of transportation.  The Court majority 
found the mailings to be in compliance with law but derivative of Schmuck’s scheme and 
because the mailings would not have occurred but for the scheme, they were sufficiently in 
furtherance to sustain the convictions.  Id at 713. 

Recently, in United States v. Lake , 472 F.3d 1247 (10th Cir. 2007), the Tenth Circuit set 
aside the convictions of two Westar Energy executives.  The prosecution had claimed these men 
had conducted a far-flung scheme to steal company money through a pattern of fraud and deceit.  
The gravamen of the alleged offenses were purported false filings with the SEC.  It turned out 
that the defendants and their families had used company aircraft for personal travel while the 
flight logs recorded the trips as business expenses.  The defendants failed to disclose their 
personal use of the corporate jet on the various filings the company was required to make to the 
SEC.  The 10th Circuit found that Parr and the legally compelled mailing doctrine applied 
because Westar submitted the filings to the SEC under compulsion of federal law and the 
purpose of the reports submitted had nothing to do with the defendants’ alleged misconduct.  Id. 
at 34.  It appears here that like Parr and its progeny, the Government has seized on incidental e-
mails and pointed to state election filings as a way of boot strapping what are at worst state law 
violations into violations of federal law.  
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Respectfully submitted, 
 
     s/ Michael S. Pasano    

      Florida Bar No. 0475947 
      E-mail:  mpasano@carltonfields.com
      Paul A. Calli, Esq.  
      Florida Bar No. 0994121 
      E-mail:  pcalli@carltonfields.com  
      CARLTON FIELDS  
      100 S.E. 2nd Street 
      4000 International Place  
      Miami, Florida 33131-2114 
      Telephone: (305) 530-0050 
      Toll Free: 800-486-0140 
      Facsimile: (305) 530-0055 
      Attorneys for Defendant Luisa Inclan-Bird 
 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing document has been 

filed via electronic mail with the Clerk of the Court by using CM/ECF System which will send a 

notice of electronic filing to the following on this 8th day of July, 2008.  

AUSA Maria Dominguez 
Torre Chardon, Suite 1201 
350 Carlos Chardon Street 
Suite 1201 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00918-1111 
787-282-1806  
E-mail: maria.a.dominguez@usdoj.gov
 

Eliseo Roques, Esq. 
Martinez, Odell & Calabria 
Banco Popular Center 
Sixteenth Floor 
P.O. Box 190998 
Hato Rey, Puerto Rico  00919-0998 
787-274-2921 
E-mail: era@mocpr.com
Attorney for Luisa Inclan Bird 
 

Harry Anduze-Montano, Esq. 
1454 Fernandez Juncos Avenue 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00909 
787-723-7171 
E-mail: handuze@microjuris.com
Attorney for Anibal Acevedo-Vila  

Thomas C. Green, Esq. 
Sidley & Austin, LLP 
1501 K Street, N.W. 
Washington, DC  20005 
202-736-8069 
E-mail:  tcgreen@sidley.com 
Attorney for Anibal Acevedo-Vila  
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Francisco Rebollo-Casalduc, Esq. 
P.O. Box 195571 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00919 
787-765-0505 
E-mail: frc@onelinkpr.net
Attorney for Candido Negron-Mella 

Thomas R. Lincoln, Esq.  
P.O. Box 363852 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00936-3852 
787-292-1099 
E-mail:  tomlincoln@onelinkpr.net
Attorney for Salvatore Avanzato 
 

Michael M. Mustokoff, Esq.  
Duane Morris 
30 South 17th Street 
Philadelphia, PA  19103-4196 
215-979-1818 
E-mail: mmustokoff@duanemorris.com
Attorney for Salvatore Avanzato 
 

Maria H. Sandoval, Esq.  
P.O. Box 9878 
San Juan, Puerto Raico  00908 
787-282-0281 
E-mail: mhsandoval@att.net
Attorney for Jorge Belasco-Mella 

Henry E. Hockeimer, Esq. 
Ballard, Spahr, Andrews & Ingersoll, LLP 
1735 Market Street 
Philadelphia, PA  19103 
215-864-8204 
E-mail: hockeimerh@ballardspahr.com
Attorney for Robert M. Feldman 
 

Diego A. Ramos, Esq. 
Roberto A. Camara-Fuertes, Esq.  
Fiddler, Gonzalez & Rodriguez 
P.O. Box 363507 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00936-3507 
787-759-3162 
787-759-3220 
E-mail: dramos@fgrlaw.com
E-mail: rcamara@fgrlaw.com 
Attorney for Marvin I. Block 

Thomas M. Gallagher, Esq. 
Pepper Hamilton LLP 
3000 Two Logan Square 
Eighteenth and Arch Streets 
Philadelphia, PA  19103-2799 
215-981-4068 
E-mail:  gallaght@pepperlaw.com
Attorney for Marvin I. Block 
 

Juan R. Acevedo-Cruz, Esq. 
Banco Cooperativo Plaza 
Suite 501-A 
623 Avenue Ponce de Leon 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00917 
787-751-2341 
E-mail: jracevedo@coqui.net
Attorney for Ramon Velasco-Escardille 

Hector E. Guzman-Silva, Esq. 
Joseph C. Laws, Esq.  
Federal Public Defender’s Office 
241 Franklin D. Roosevelt Avenue 
Hato Rey, Puerto Rico  00918-2441 
787-281-4922/4927 
E-mail: hector_guzman@fd.org
E-mail: joseph_laws@fd.org
Attorney for Edwin Colon-Rodriguez 
 

Jose R. Aguayo, Esq. 
569 Tn. Cesar Gonzalez Street 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00918 
787-765-0814 
E-mail: joseraguayo@cs.com
Attorney for Miguel Nazario-Franco 
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Richard O. Dansoh, Esq. 
2600 Douglas Road 
PH #7 
Coral Gables, Florida  33134 
305-573-4444 
E-mail:  rodanosh@aol.com
Attorney for Miguel Nazario-Franco 
 

Ramon A. Cestero, Jr., Esq. 
Tres Rios Building, Suite 300 
27 Gonzalez Giusti 
San Patricio 
Guaynabo, Puerto Rico  00968 
787-250-8040 
E-mail: racestero@hotmail.com
Attorney for Ricardo Colon-Padilla 
 

Roberto Buso-Aboy, Esq. 
Buso Aboy Law Office 
Westerbank World Plaza 
268 Munoz Rivera Avenue 
Suite 1905 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00918-1931 
787-250-7172 
E-mail: busoaboy@prtc.net
Attorney for Ricardo Colon-Padilla 
 

Joaquin Monserrate-Matienzo, Esq. 
606 Munoz Rivera Avenue 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00918 
787-764-8960 
E-mail: jmm@monserratelaw.com
Attorney for Jose Gonzalez-Freyre 

Antonio Moreda-Toledo, Esq. 
Moreda & Moreda 
P.O. Box 366066 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00936-6066 
787-754-6290 
E-mail: moreda@prtc.net
Attorney for Jose Gonzalez-Freyre 
 

Irma R. Valldejuli-Perez, Esq.  
P. O. Box 361228 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00936-1228 
787-754-6290 
E-mail: irvalldejuli@moredalaw.com
Attorney for Jose Gonzalez-Freyre 

Francisco M. Dolz-Sanchez 
P.O. Box 361451 
San Juan, Puerto Rico  00936-1451 
787-759-8780 
Attorney for Eneidy Coreano-Salgado 

 
 

 
     s/ Michael S. Pasano    
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